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Author’s note


While the Washington Poe and Tilly Bradshaw books are written so they can be read in any order, this book does contain a character – and therefore a spoiler – from the previous book, The Mercy Chair.


I did think of omitting her entirely, but she was too much fun to write about.











Three Lights on a Match


On the first he shoulders the Bren


On the second he smiles


On the third he pulls the trigger


And then he smiles again


(Anon.)












 


You don’t see the man in the ghillie suit.


You don’t see him because he casts no shadow. There is no silhouette. He has natural cover to his front and natural cover to his rear. His ghillie suit is the same colour as the foliage he’s concealed in. It breaks up his human shape. It has no straight lines. Nothing glares and nothing shines. The grasses and ferns he has stitched into the suit sway with the wind.


You don’t see the man in the ghillie suit because he doesn’t move. Not even his eyes. He doesn’t eat and he doesn’t drink. He doesn’t take comfort breaks. He craves a cigarette, but he doesn’t have one. He hasn’t washed for days. There are no soap or deodorant smells to spook the wildlife. They crawl over and under him as if he’s part of the landscape. It’s like he isn’t there. He might as well be invisible.


You don’t see the man in the ghillie suit.


But he sees you . . .









Chapter 1


Blencathra House, Central London


There were twelve people in the police media room and that was ten too many.


Only the man and the woman needed to be there. The other ten were as welcome as professional mourners at a funeral.


The woman looked at the man, saw the grief on his face. She made a decision. ‘Everyone out,’ she said quietly.


She didn’t need to raise her voice. She never did. The room went silent. The only sound was the crack of knuckles as the man clenched and unclenched his fists. He didn’t know he was doing it.


‘We have just as much right to be—’ one of the ten started to say before being nudged into silence by a colleague. He pointed at the woman’s expression. It said: Don’t mess with me. Not today.


They left their seats and trooped out of the room. They glared at the man as they passed. One of them, a guy called Peter Jameson, deliberately shoulder-barged him. Stared, willing him to react.


The man didn’t. Jameson was angry. They were all angry. The man didn’t blame them.


Jameson tried again. ‘This is your fault,’ he said. ‘She’s dead because of you.’


The man continued to ignore him. Didn’t even glance in his direction.


‘Out!’ the woman snapped.


Jameson left the room, slamming the door. The room fell silent again. The woman took a moist towelette from her bag and wiped the back of her neck. She passed a fresh one to the man, but he made no move to take it.


Despite the brutish heatwave the country was experiencing, the police media-room windows were closed. Heavy drapes covered them. It was how it was now. People suffered the discomfort. Put up with the heat. Over the last three months they had got used to it. Keeping your windows closed and your curtains drawn was the new normal. As were untended gardens. Tarpaulin screens at petrol stations. People walking in zigzags instead of a straight line. No one went outside unless they had to.


Not any more.


The man had sweated so much his suit was as wet as a sponge. He was unshaven and had red-rimmed eyes. It looked like he hadn’t slept for weeks. His cheeks were shrunken, gaunt. His face was monstrously calm. Detached, almost. If he’d returned from a war zone, he’d have been described as having a thousand-yard stare. The only sign of his rage was the clenching and unclenching of his fists.


‘It’s on,’ the woman said. She reached for a remote control and unmuted the television that was mounted on the wall. It was already on the right channel – Sky News. The anchor was called Finlay Scott and the carefully worded statement he was about to read had been drafted by the woman not forty-five minutes earlier. It had been released to the media to catch the two o’clock news. It would be repeated on the hour and be the lead story on the six o’clock and ten o’clock shows that night.


Finlay Scott cleared his throat and began reading. ‘I have breaking news – police have just released the name of the twenty-first person to be killed by the sniper who is terrorising the country. The woman, who worked for the National Crime Agency’s Serious Crime Analysis Section, has been named as civilian analyst and the youngest-ever recipient of the Fields Medal, Matilda Bradshaw.’


At the back of the room, Stephanie Flynn, the woman holding the remote control, stared at the screen in silence. Like she couldn’t believe she’d heard what she’d known she was about to hear. As if there was a disconnect between writing the statement and hearing the statement. A single tear ran down her face. She wiped it away with the towelette.


The man with the thousand-yard stare didn’t look at the TV. Nor did he stay silent. That wasn’t in his nature. He was an apex predator and he had never felt the urge to hunt more. He wanted, no he needed to be outside. The sniper wasn’t in this room. He was in the hills, and he was in the woods. He was on the top of buildings, and he was underneath cars. He was everywhere the man wasn’t. But they’d be in the same place soon. The man with the thousand-yard stare could feel it. He knew it. He could hear the beat of the sniper’s heart, smell his fear. No one else was going to die. It was almost over.


So instead of staying quiet, the man threw back his head and screamed.


That man was Washington Poe.


But perhaps this isn’t the best place to start.


Maybe we need to go back a few weeks . . .









The First Light









Chapter 2


A few weeks earlier


Gretna Green


The bullet that killed Naomi Etherington was a .50 BMG fired from a McMillan TAC-50 sniper rifle. It was shot from a cold barrel at a range of 1,200 yards. The sniper was using a Schmidt & Bender 5-25x56 PM II telescopic sight. The bullet was the colour of a penny and, at 42 grams, was five times the weight of the wedding ring Naomi had just slipped on her new husband’s finger.


It entered her back at 800 metres per second, cut through vertebra C5, severing her spinal cord, then deflected off her ribs down into her heart. After shredding the aorta, the left atrium and the left ventricle, the bullet tore through the lower lobe of her right lung then smashed its way in and out of her liver and pancreas.


Later, the forensic pathologist would note that the entrance wound in Naomi’s back was the size and colour of a fresh cigarette burn. There was no exit wound – the solid knot of the hipbone had flattened and stopped the bullet.


People still get married at Gretna Green. Three and a half thousand couples a year. It’s a nod to the runaway weddings of the past when an eighteenth-century English law forbade anyone under the age of twenty-one to marry without their parents’ consent. Gretna Green was an accident of geography, the first village English couples reached when they crossed the border into Scotland. Overnight, a thriving wedding economy sprang up, and businesses keep the tradition alive today. It’s romantic, a lovely way to start your new life together.


But when Naomi collapsed into her husband’s arms, her life’s egg timer was almost out of sand. A bridesmaid, thinking the heat and the heavy white dress had caused her friend to faint, went to help. Then she saw the blood. Lots of blood. She screamed. And then it seemed like everyone was screaming. It was a full minute before anyone thought to dial 999.


It wouldn’t have made any difference. By the time the paramedics arrived, Naomi had been dead for seventeen minutes.


The man in the ghillie suit didn’t make mistakes.









Chapter 3


Cabinet Oﬃce Briefing Room C, Whitehall, London


The murder of Naomi Etherington was the man in the ghillie suit’s third victim in eight days. In the last six months, he’d shot and killed seventeen people. He had a 100 per cent success rate. No one had survived. There was no one in hospital, hanging on, full of tubes and hooked up to twenty machines. Every one of his victims had died where they’d been shot.


Even if the sniper terrorising the country hadn’t been negatively affecting the economy, the prime minister couldn’t sit on his hands. He had to do something. He had to lead. And when the country looked to Number 10 for leadership, the quick-win, easy-to-arrange gesture was always the same – COBRA. It sounded like the PM was on top of the situation. That high-level coordination and decision-making was happening, and he was overseeing it. That when the country needed him, he was a hands-on prime minister. He was their guy. The public’s image of COBRA resembled the White House’s Situation Room. Screens on the wall, satellite links to the nuclear subs. Men in shirts, ties loosened, sleeves rolled up, toiling away day and night. That COBRA was an acronym for Cabinet Oﬃce Briefing Rooms – the media added the A to make it sexier – didn’t seem to bother anyone. COBRA sounded fast. It sounded decisive. It sounded like it had bite. Like an actual cobra.


The reality of COBRA was that the prime minister was rarely present at the meetings. He might occasionally dip in and out, but that was more of a cosmetic thing. In case he was asked by the press or by the leader of the opposition at PMQs. COBRA meetings are mostly attended by the people who need to be there.


Cabinet Oﬃce Briefing Room C was typical. It was functional. Utilitarian. Nothing in it that didn’t need to be there. It looked like any briefing room anywhere in the world. A table, some cheap chairs, and tough, hardwearing carpet tiles.


The seven previous meetings convened to discuss the sniper murders had been attended by representatives of the police, the Home Oﬃce, the Oﬃce of the Prime Minister and a bunch of civil contingency experts. The usual suspects.


And they were there now. Still making notes, still out of ideas. But this time someone new was in attendance. He’d been in the wings, ready for the call. Patiently waiting for the sniper to be redesignated as a threat to national security. He was called Alastor Locke, and although he looked and dressed like Snidely Whiplash without the top hat, he was one of the UK’s most senior spies. Locke had listened to what was being discussed in the meeting without commenting. The sniper was a police matter. He wasn’t sure there was a role for the security services yet. He’d made some notes but that was more out of habit. Locke didn’t attend meetings unbriefed.


The chair was called Timothy Spiggens and he was a junior minister in the Home Oﬃce. Not the best politician Locke had ever met, not the worst. He had just reached the last agenda item – AOB. Any Other Business.


‘Alastor,’ he said. ‘Can you bring everyone up to speed on what the security services have been up to?’


Fat chance, Locke thought but didn’t say.


‘The usual,’ he said. ‘Monitoring chatter, speaking to our friends, gross invasions of privacy, that kind of thing.’


‘And?’


Locke shrugged. ‘If he’s a bad actor, he’s working alone. No one is claiming responsibility. One of our more excitable far-right groups thought it might have been one of their fringe players, someone who disappeared a year ago, but I know for a fact they’re wrong.’


‘How?’


‘Because he’s dead. Drug overdose. His body went unclaimed and he was given a pauper’s funeral three months ago.’


‘But if you knew . . .’


‘If we knew who he was, why did his body go unclaimed?’


‘Yes.’


‘We’re the security service,’ Locke said. ‘Keeping secrets is what we do. And it suits our purposes if certain groups believe we still do black sites and extraordinary renditions. It keeps them in check.’


‘It’s not terrorism then?’ Spiggens said.


‘It isn’t.’


Spiggens put his head in his hands for a moment. Terrorism would give the government a target. Someone to fight. A lone wolf gave them nothing. And Mason Dowbakin, the Right Honourable Member for Preston East, was already making waves. Goading the centrist PM, forcing him to move to his right. His latest column in the Telegraph said he was only helping the PM – who he admired greatly blah blah blah – return to his core values, but everyone knew he was setting himself up as the next cab off the rank should there be a leadership challenge.


‘This is a disaster,’ Spiggens said. He opened a slim file and removed a single sheet of paper. ‘These are the most recent figures. Working-from-home requests are up by six hundred per cent in the last two weeks alone, commuting is down by almost the same. When people do come into work, they don’t leave the building until they go home as soon as they finish, so the lunch and early evening economy is tanking. The public are cancelling hospital appointments so the pandemic backlog, instead of shrinking, is getting bigger.’ He put the sheet back in his file then picked up a copy of the Daily Mail. ‘A woman collapsed in Brighton yesterday. She lay on the pavement for over an hour before someone found the courage to go to her assistance. Eighty-seven years old and she died of heatstroke in one of the most advanced countries in the world.’ He slammed the newspaper on the table. ‘This is absolutely unacceptable!’


‘This isn’t a newspaper Mrs Locke has delivered,’ Locke said. ‘May I see it?’


Spiggens slid it across the table. Locke picked it up and spent a few seconds scanning the front page. It was a detailed account of Naomi Etherington’s murder in Gretna Green. He tilted his head. ‘I know a man who lives near Gretna Green. He doesn’t always play well with others, but he may be able to help.’


‘What? Who is he?’ Spiggens said. ‘Get him on the next train, man!’


‘The approach will have to come from someone else, I’m afraid. The last time we had contact there was considerable . . . unpleasantness.’


‘How unpleasant?’


Locke cleared his throat. ‘He said if he ever saw me again, he’d, and this is verbatim, “Take those stupid glasses off your head and stick them up your bony arse.”’


‘My word,’ Spiggens said. ‘That is unpleasant.’


‘And truthfully, it was not undeserved,’ Locke said. ‘We did treat him rather badly.’


‘Perhaps he was exaggerating.’


Locke smiled at the thought. ‘This is not a man given to hyperbole, Timothy.’


‘What will he want?’


‘Knowing him, a crate of beer and some good-quality butcher’s sausages.’


‘Alastor,’ Spiggens warned. ‘The PM wants positive news – what will he want?’


‘I really have no idea,’ Locke said. ‘He’s whimsical.’


‘Who is he?’


‘Detective Sergeant Washington Poe.’


Cabinet Oﬃce Briefing Room C went from quiet murmurs to stunned silence so quickly it was like there’d been a power cut.


‘Good grief,’ Spiggens said eventually. ‘Is he still a police oﬃcer? I thought he’d married the Marquess of Northumberland’s daughter.’


‘Not yet.’


‘But they are engaged?’


‘I really have no idea, Timothy,’ Locke said. ‘I certainly haven’t received a wedding invitation.’


‘Washington Poe,’ Spiggens said, wondering if the PM would consider this good or bad news. ‘I’m not sure, Alastor. We got into a lot of bother the last time he worked with us. All that stuff on the golf course.’


‘True,’ Locke replied. ‘But he was right.’


‘Yes, I know he was right. He also caused a major diplomatic incident. My counterpart in the US didn’t return my calls for almost a year.’


Locke hid a smile. Unsuccessfully.


‘It’s not funny, Alastor!’ Spiggens snapped. ‘We called you in to get your take on this horrible situation and the only thing you’ve come up with is an unmanageable misanthrope from the far north of England.’


Locke said nothing.


‘I’m not sure he’s the type of person we want, Alastor.’


‘Maybe not, but he is the person we need. He has a knack for this kind of thing.’


Spiggens sighed. ‘If I take this to the PM, can you control him?’


‘Good Lord, no,’ Locke said. He thought about it for a moment. ‘But I know someone who can.’


‘Who?’


Locke told him.


‘Get her on the phone then.’


Locke removed an ornate notebook from his pocket and found a number. He pressed the speakerphone icon and dialled. His call was answered immediately.


‘Modern Slavery and Human Traﬃcking Unit, please,’ he said.


There were a couple of clicks while his call was redirected.


‘MSHTU, Detective Chief Inspector Stephanie Flynn speaking.’


‘Good morning, Chief Inspector, this is Alastor Locke. Have I caught you at a bad time? And before you answer, I’m in Whitehall and you’re on speakerphone.’


‘What do you want, dickhead?’


Locke chuckled. ‘I’m thinking of putting the band back together.’


Flynn paused. Then she said, ‘It’s about fucking time.’









Chapter 4


HMSLancaster , the smallest, leakiest tug in the Royal Navy, somewhere in the Atlantic Ocean


Washington Poe smelled of fish.


Not just his clothes. Him. It was a hard thing to admit, but he did. He smelled of fish. One of the stinkiest things you could smell of. Even fresh fish honked. If he were to compile a list – and he frequently did – of the worst things to smell of, fish would be number two. Only an actual number two was worse.


Cruellest of all, there didn’t seem to be anything he could do about it. And he’d tried, God how he’d tried. The second he got home his clothes were off and in the washing machine. He would then scrub himself in the bath for an hour. He’d use the harshest soap he could buy, and the hottest water he could stand. And within five minutes of stepping out, he smelled like he’d used fish stock as bathwater.


His fiancée – soon-to-be wife – Estelle Doyle, didn’t help. The second he was out of the bath she would say something hilarious like, ‘I don’t know why, but I fancy kippers for tea,’ or ‘We had a double-glazing salesman round earlier. He said he could do the whole house for a thousand pounds. I told him to go away . . . it seemed fishy.’ And Poe would laugh because it was Doyle who’d said it and he loved her. She also had the kind of voice that would make a bowel cancer diagnosis sound sexy.


But still, he wished he didn’t smell of fish.


And the reason he smelled, no stank, of fish was because he was being punished. His last case with the National Crime Agency’s Serious Crime Analysis Section, the UK’s only dedicated serial killer unit, had involved people who had been stoned to death. It had almost killed him. Literally. It had left him scarred and battered and with PTSD. He was still seeing his trauma therapist, and although he was getting better, the little things were still making him angry. Shops without cashiers. People who said ‘holibobs’. The chip shop closing early. Flies. Adults who wished their dead relatives a ‘happy heavenly birthday’. People who put LOL on text messages. People who said LOL. His line manager wanting regular updates on the criminal activity of drug smugglers. Raisins masquerading as chocolate chips in biscuits. Adults who said ‘forever homes’ and ‘fur babies’. The Police and Criminal Evidence Act. The phrase ‘wild swimming’. The usual shit.


He’d been temporarily reassigned to the training wing until he was assessed as being fit for fieldwork. In hindsight, or maybe it was foresight – you never knew who was pulling whose strings when these things were arranged – it was a role for which he was singularly unsuited. He’d been there for less than a month when he’d had a fistfight with another instructor, an over-educated fast-tracked idiot called Jake Burnham. Poe couldn’t remember what the fight was about, but he thought an unattended Pot Noodle might have been involved. However, Burnham had also been at fault, and because he was the son of an assistant chief constable in Police Scotland they couldn’t sack him. Which meant they couldn’t sack Poe either. Instead, they did the next best thing: they reassigned him – again – to the stupidest inter-agency task-force ever dreamed up. His boss at the training unit had assumed he’d hand in his notice there and then, but he hadn’t understood how contrary Poe could be.


So now he and three other misfits spent their working days on the smallest, leakiest tug in the Royal Naval fleet on an intelligence-led stop-and-search programme of fishing trawlers.The half-baked idea was that the combined might of the Royal Navy, Border Force and National Crime Agency would prove a formidable weapon in the fight against drugs. Poe knew it was a half-baked idea because he was on the taskforce. Poe didn’t know anything about fish. He didn’t even like fish. He would tolerate cod if it was wrapped in crispy batter. Even then he’d give most of it to Edgar, his gluttonous springer spaniel. Not the batter, though. That was all his.


But lack of knowledge of the UK fishing industry aside, he wasn’t the biggest buffoon on HMS Lancaster. The ship, which had started life as an inshore survey vessel, was skippered by the boatswain Isaac Scoplett, surely the drunkest man in the Royal Navy. He reminded Poe of a less sober Uncle Albert from Only Fools and Horses. Poe had no idea what Scoplett had done to get the same punishment posting as him, but he suspected gross incompetence was a big part of it. He was the only sailor Poe had met who said left and right instead of port and starboard.


If anything, the two chuckleheads from the Border Force were worse. At least Scoplett tried – not to fall overboard, mainly – whereas Amer Anwar and Clancy Bright seemed to rejoice in their stupidity. As well as that, they were mean, lazy and misogynistic. Poe had received an email from an old contact in customs. It was just their names in the subject line and ten rows of laughing emojis.


Their new line of attack was that Poe had a therapist. They thought that was funny. They didn’t know why he had a therapist, but that didn’t seem to matter. They’d been making snide comments for days, trying to get a rise, but Poe wasn’t playing. He barely listened to them. It would come to a head at some point, but he wasn’t ready yet.


Because, as stubborn as he was, Poe was getting tired of it all. He was tired of smelling of fish, and he was tired of the commute. Of the nights at sea. He missed his fiancée, and he missed his friend, Tilly Bradshaw. His best friend. When the last case had concluded, the dream team was split up. He had been sent to the training wing, SCAS’s boss, DI Stephanie Flynn, had been promoted to DCI and gone to a Modern Slavery unit, and Bradshaw had been seconded to the security services; doing what, she wouldn’t say. He knew she was as miserable as him, though.


So, in secret they’d been making a plan . . . It was a great plan and he was tempted to put it into action soon.


But not before he’d kicked the shit out of the Border Force guys.









Chapter 5


The boat they’d just boarded was called the Aurora II. It was a 14-metre trawler and it had been chugging its way back to Cornwall when they’d boarded it. It had taken Scoplett four attempts to bring HMS Lancaster alongside. Everyone had found somewhere else to look as he kept messing up what was a basic naval task. He was less Captain Cook, more Captain Pugwash.


But eventually, with the help of a lucky swell, he’d managed to get close enough to tie up and board. Scoplett nodded. Job well done. He removed his hip flask, took a swig then offered it around. No one accepted.


The Aurora II’s three-man crew, a father and his two sons, were sullen but cooperative. They were big men, bearded with scarred hands. Thick Cornish accents. Sounded like Worzel Gummidge. Work strong, not gym strong.


Clancy Bright asked to see their paperwork. He was smiling. Bright loved to order fishermen around. Loved to abuse the tiny bit of authority he had. Poe was surprised he hadn’t used a German accent. He thought Bright would have been an enthusiastic Nazi.


Everything seemed to be in order. The father provided an up-to-date fishing vessel licence, the boat had all the required safety equipment, and Poe didn’t need to weigh their catch to know it was under their quota.


But it was halibut and that was a problem.


‘Cuff them,’ he said.


‘You’re not in charge of me, Poe,’ Anwar said. ‘You fucking cuff them.’


‘Actually, this is now a live crime scene, so I am in charge. If you don’t cuff them, I’ll assume you’re part of whatever this is and, as I’m outnumbered, I’d be within the law if I belted you around the head with this fishing gaff.’ He picked up a metal shaft. It had a wicked-looking hook on the end.


Anwar and Bright scrambled to get out their cuffs and it wasn’t long before the three fishermen were in custody. Poe read them their rights. They didn’t seem overly concerned.


‘You mind telling us what the hell’s just happened?’ Bright said. He picked up a halibut. Held it by its gill and rubbed off some of the ice. It was about a metre long, all fleshy and fat. Looked fresh. ‘Because these guys have a catch to land.’


‘This boat is fitted out for purse seining,’ Poe said. He looked at their blank faces and sighed. He hadn’t known anything about fishing when he’d started, but he’d learned what he needed to. It was a shit job but that didn’t mean he wasn’t going to do it properly. ‘Come on, guys, you can remember this.’ He waited. Sighed again and said, ‘Purse seining works by drawing a vast net around a shoal of fish. The bottom is weighted, and the top is buoyed by floats. When the shoal is in the net, the bottom is closed – or pursed – like a drawstring bag and the fish are trapped.’


‘Yeah, we knew that,’ Anwar said. ‘So what?’


‘So, purse seining is used for midwater fish like mackerel and sardines. The halibut is a flatfish and that means they live on the bottom of the sea. They’re caught with trawler nets, not purse seines. In any case, even if they had found a way to catch a bottom-dwelling fish with a midwater net, they have no way of getting their catch onboard. That winch hasn’t been used in months by the look of it.’


The father burst out laughing. ‘Is that it?’ he said. ‘You’ve arrested us because you think a fish that swims on the bottom of the sea stays on the bottom of the sea? Let me ask you something, Mr Policeman. What do halibut eat?’


‘They’re predators,’ Poe said.


‘Yes, they are. And they’re ravenous. And in the waters we fish, halibuts are at the top of the food chain. That means they can venture up to feed. So yes, purse seine nets are used to catch them.’


‘Your winch?’


‘Yes, the winch is knackered and I haven’t got the money to replace it. It’s why I have my boys with me, dickface.’


Behind him, Poe could hear Anwar and Bright sniggering.


‘Hey, Brighty,’ Anwar said. ‘Maybe they didn’t catch them. Maybe there’s a serial-killer conger eel down there. Maybe these guys aren’t fishermen. Maybe they’re crime scene cleaners.’


Bright laughed so hard, snot came out of his nose. When he’d cleaned himself up, he said, ‘Just as well we have the great Washington Poe on the case then.’


‘No, no, he doesn’t do that any more, remember?’ Anwar said, a nasty smirk on his face. ‘Because he’s sooooo depressed.’ He clutched some imaginary pearls and Bright brayed like a donkey. He said, ‘Now, can we let these poor men go? It’s getting dark and I want to go home.’


‘And he’ll want to get back to that woman he’s stringing along,’ Bright said.


‘Got his feet right under the table with Miss Snooty Britches, hasn’t he?’


‘Snooty bitch, more like.’


Poe didn’t answer. If the last couple of minutes had been the song ‘Coward of the County’, it would have got to the part where Tommy was about to lock himself in the bar with the Gatlin boys.


But it wasn’t a song.


Instead, Poe picked up a halibut, swung it around like an Olympic hammer thrower, and whacked Bright over the head with it. Bright dropped to the deck of the Aurora II like a bag of wet towels.


‘I don’t see my therapist for depression,’ Poe said. ‘I see her for anger management.’


Bright clambered to his feet and readied his fists. Anwar rolled his shoulders, then crouched.


This fight had been a long time coming.


Poe wondered which way it would go. The Border Force guys looked like they’d fight dirty but there were witnesses. It would be fists and headbutts and kicks to the balls. When Poe was still in uniform, he’d patrolled Botchergate, Carlisle’s yellow-headed pimple, and the scene of most of its alcohol-fuelled violence. He knew how to scrap in the gutter. The trick was to keep going, even when you were getting hurt. Make the other person regret it before you did.


But there were two of them. The numbers were in their favour. They had four fists to his two. They were twice as heavy and five times as stupid.


In the end it was moot.


The fight stopped before it could start when something fell out of the belly of the halibut Poe was holding.


Three hundred yards away on HMS Biter, a Royal Navy Archer-class fast inshore patrol boat, DCI Stephanie Flynn had her eyes glued to a pair of binoculars. ‘Ha-ha, look at that salty bastard,’ she said. ‘Poe looks like Captain Haddock.’


‘What’s happening?’


‘Nothing, they’re just . . .’


‘What is it?’


‘I’m not entirely sure,’ Flynn said, ‘but it looks like Poe’s just picked up a massive fish and whacked one of his colleagues with it.’


‘Excuse me?’


‘Er . . . I don’t think I can say it any differently to be honest. Poe grabbed a fish, it might be a cod, and swung it round his head and knocked one of his colleagues off his feet. And before you ask, this is Poe; if you want logic and reason, you’re in the wrong place.’ She paused, tried to work out what was happening on the boat that HMS Lancaster had boarded. ‘Uh-oh, now it looks like they’re all going to start brawling.’


‘Step on it,’ the skipper said to the helmsman. He’d been told to take DCI Flynn to Poe and then get them both back to the mainland as fast as possible. His orders hadn’t specified whether Poe had to be bloodied or unbloodied, but he was an oﬃcer in the Royal Navy; not everything had to be explicit.


HMS Biter surged forward as the helmsman gave it the beans. The engines growled and began churning the water in their wake. It wasn’t long before they’d reached their top speed, around 25 knots. Despite Biter bouncing around like a roller-coaster, Flynn kept her eyes stuck on what was happening on the fishing trawler. ‘Now it seems they’re all looking at something on the deck,’ she said.


‘What?’


‘I have absolutely no idea, but it’s got them all excited. They certainly aren’t thinking of fighting any more.’


Back on the Aurora II, the fisherman father said, ‘That’s not mine.’ He glared at his sons.


‘It’s not ours either,’ the younger one protested. ‘We were told it was drugs.’


They bred smart criminals in Cornwall.


‘That isn’t drugs, son,’ Poe said. ‘That’s a Glock.’ He gloved up and retrieved it from the deck. The gun was shrink-wrapped with thick clear plastic. ‘A Glock 17, to be precise.’ He shouted over to HMS Lancaster’s remaining crew member, ‘Mr Scoplett, can you call this in, please? The whole boat’s a crime scene now and I don’t want to lose evidence. But we’ll take these three into our custody now.’ There was no response. He risked a glance. ‘Are you asleep?’


Whether HMS Lancaster’s skipper was asleep or not was immaterial: the sound of the loudhailer would have woken the dead.


‘Ahoy-hoy, Captain Poe!’ Flynn said. ‘You mind telling me what’s going on?’


Poe turned. HMS Biter had come alongside. No one had noticed.


Scoplett woke with a start. ‘Ship ahoy,’ he said.


‘Well shiver me timbers,’ Poe said.









Chapter 6


Cabinet Oﬃce Briefing Room C, Whitehall, London


Poe and Flynn walked into a full briefing room. A man in a suit was talking over a PowerPoint presentation. He had sandy hair, combed and wavy, the way King Charles had worn his in his forties. It was a look only posh people could get away with. He caught Poe’s eyes. The man in the suit’s flickered but he recovered beautifully. He gestured towards a pair of empty seats.


‘I’ll be two minutes,’ he said. ‘Then we’ll do some introductions.’


Poe looked around the room. It was the first time he’d been to Whitehall. The inside, or this bit at least, was less impressive than the outside. The exterior looked like something out of Mary Poppins, the inside like the group activity room in a job centre. The people watching the PowerPoint presentation were a mixed bag. There were men and women in suits, men and women in jeans and T-shirts. Some were taking notes, others were on their phone tapping away at texts or emails. Two of them looked like they were taking notes for their boss. There was a guy hiding behind a copy of The Times who seemed to be ignoring everyone, and a woman with a scattering of acne on her forehead who was chewing on a hangnail. It looked like there was only one cop in the room. Poe had met her a few years earlier on a serial poisoner case. Mathers, he thought she was called. Good at her job. He didn’t know all the Met ranks, but he thought she might be a commander by now, maybe a deputy assistant commissioner. He nodded at her. She ignored him.


The screen went blank.


‘You must be Detective Sergeant Poe,’ the man with the King-Charles-in-his-forties haircut said. ‘Glad to have you onboard.’


‘Onboard what?’ Poe said carefully.


‘Haven’t you been briefed?’


‘I haven’t even had time to shower.’


‘You can say that again,’ Flynn muttered. Then louder, ‘There were things to clear up before we could get away, sir, and Poe needed to be on the phone for the entire journey.’


‘What things?’ the man said. ‘This has the highest priority.’ An aide came in and whispered in his ear. She handed him a memo. ‘I’m not sure this is going to work,’ he said. ‘It says here that not two hours ago you assaulted one of your colleagues with a deadly weapon.’


‘It was a fish,’ Flynn said. ‘Hardly deadly.’


The man rechecked his memo. ‘It says Sergeant Poe hit a Border Force agent called Clancy Bright with a halberd.’


‘It was a halibut, sir.’


The man handed the memo back to the aide. ‘Who wrote this?’ he said.


The aide shrugged then fled. Someone was in line for a telling-off later, Poe thought.


‘Regardless, this is indicative of what we were told of the man—’


‘I’m out of here,’ Poe said, getting to his feet.


‘Sit down, Poe,’ Flynn said. ‘And, sir, perhaps we can start again. The reason we were late, and the reason Sergeant Poe hasn’t been briefed, is because not two hours ago he broke a major gun-running operation, one we didn’t even know existed. That’s why he was on his phone all the way here. He was arranging for the shipment of halibut to reach its intended destination, sans guns, of course. That way we can pick up the buyers as well as the couriers.’


The man with the King-Charles-in-his-forties haircut said, ‘Of course. Things are getting heated and I apologise. So yes, let’s start again. My name is Timothy Spiggens.’ Poe looked at him blankly. ‘I’m a minister with the Home Oﬃce,’ he added.


‘And what is the Home Oﬃce?’ Poe said.


‘Are you serious? It’s the biggest department in His Majesty’s Government, man!’


‘And what is a govern—’


‘Pack it in, Poe,’ Flynn cut in.


Mathers hid a smile behind her hand.


‘Fine,’ Poe said. ‘I take it this is something to do with that lunatic who’s shooting people?’


Spiggens nodded.


‘And you’re the group spearheading the strategic and political response?’


‘You’ve heard of a COBRA meeting?’


‘I have.’


‘Well, this is one.’


‘In that case I won’t waste your time,’ Poe said. ‘I’m not interested.’


‘You don’t know what I’m going to say yet!’


‘Don’t I?’ Poe said. ‘Six months ago, I asked the man who dismantled SCAS who he was going to call the next time a monster crawled out from under the bed, and do you know what he said?’


‘What who said?’


‘A lanky prick called Alastor Locke.’


Flynn put her head in her hands and said, ‘Oh, Lord.’


‘I have no idea what Mr Locke said,’ Spiggens said.


‘Maybe you can ask the lanky prick himself, Timothy,’ a voice said.


It was the guy who’d been hiding behind a copy of The Times.


‘Hello, Poe,’ Locke said, making a show of folding his newspaper and slipping it into his briefcase. ‘It’s been a while. And yes, I do remember what I said.’


‘What was it, Alastor?’ Spiggens asked.


‘I said, “I’m sure we’ll manage.”’ Locke spread his arms. ‘It seems I may have been a bit too nippy on the buzzer.’









Chapter 7


Flynn grabbed Poe’s arm. Told him to stay calm without saying anything. He shrugged her off and got to his feet. He walked around the table and stood behind Locke. Locke turned to face him. He didn’t appear concerned. The corner of his mouth lifted.


‘What can you smell, Alastor?’ Poe said.


Locke wafted his hand under his nose, like he was sniﬃng a fine wine. ‘My dear boy, you appear to smell of fish.’


Poe reached up and tugged his ragged beard. ‘And what’s this?’


‘I assume that’s rhetorical?’


‘Riddle me this,’ Poe said. ‘Who spends his life at sea but isn’t a fisherman?’


Locke smiled politely. Didn’t answer.


‘Do you know what I was doing’ – Poe checked his watch – ‘not four hours ago?’


‘DCI Flynn says you were heroically, and no doubt singlehandedly, protecting these fair shores from those who would do us harm.’


Poe took a breath. ‘Wrong. Four hours ago, I had my hand so far up a halibut’s arsehole it was like I was reaching for a bingo ball.’


‘Eloquently put, as ever, Poe,’ Locke said.


‘And the reason I was doing this was because you screwed me over. You screwed everyone over. I should have been on this from day one. Not seventeen bodies later.’


‘Nevertheless, we’re asking for your help now.’ His eyes had turned steely and his voice had an edge. Locke wasn’t some political lacky, he was a hard-nosed spy. He wasn’t going to take Poe’s shit forever.


‘Well you can’t have it,’ Poe said. ‘It’s too late now. Too much evidence has been lost and whoever is doing this has got too good. No offence to the guys investigating, but he isn’t going to get caught. He’ll stop when he decides to stop.’


‘No offence taken, Poe,’ Mathers said. ‘We’re nowhere.’


‘And I warned you this would happen, Alastor,’ Poe said, his voice as flat and cold as Locke’s. ‘I fucking warned you.’


‘You were very clear, Poe,’ Locke admitted.


‘I said SCAS was the last line of defence, the contingency you hoped you’d never have to use.’


‘You did.’


‘I’m not even talking about me,’ Poe said. ‘I’m a good detective but so are five hundred other cops. Two of them are in this very room. DCI Flynn is better than me and . . . I’m sorry, ma’am, I don’t know what rank you are now.’


‘I’m a commander, Poe.’


‘And Commander Mathers is better than me.’


‘I think you do yourself a disservice, Poe,’ Locke said.


‘I don’t give a shit what you think,’ Poe said. ‘And the reason I don’t is that through good judgement or blind luck the team DCI Flynn put together had the kind of alchemy never seen before in law enforcement. We were the envy of the world and that wasn’t down to me, and it wasn’t down to the boss, it was down to just one person. A genius, a once-in-a-generation mind who for some reason wanted to put her extraordinary mind to catching serial killers instead of solving mathematical problems. And yes, she needed time to readjust to the new world she’d chosen to work in, but with a little help from me and DCI Flynn she quickly became SCAS’s golden goose. The ace up our sleeve, our silver bullet, a thousand other clichés. Within days, we were catching the kind of bad guys who never get caught. The kind of bad guys you’re panicking over now. But that wasn’t enough, was it? You wanted more. So what did you do? You stole the golden goose for yourself.’ He paused. Took a breath. ‘And then you ate it for fucking Christmas.’


‘Have you heard of the trolley problem, Poe?’


Poe said nothing. Concentrated on getting his breathing under control. He could feel another episode of PTSD-related violence coming on.


‘It’s one in a series of ethical thought experiments,’ Locke continued. ‘Imagine there’s a runaway trolley and five people are tied to the track. If the trolley runs over them, all five will be killed. But, and here’s the sharp kick to the ankle, there’s a lever that can be pulled to divert the trolley. The problem is that on the new track there is one person who will be killed. The ethical dilemma is whether it is morally wrong to do nothing and let five people die, or to intervene and sacrifice one “safe” person to save the rest.’


Poe considered that for a few beats. ‘You’re talking about the greater good,’ he said. ‘That the needs of the many outweigh the needs of the few.’


‘A rather simplistic summary, but yes.’


‘Do you know how much evil shit has been done for the greater good? The Holocaust, Swiss eugenics, slavery.’


‘Yes, Poe, in your world of absolutes, I’m sure that’s how it must appear,’ Locke said. He tilted his head. ‘But did you ever wonder why I took the actions I did? Because you’re quite correct, your beloved Serious Crime Analysis Section was doing extraordinary work. Lives were being saved; justice was being done. And yes, a significant part of that was down to one person, your so-called golden goose. Despite this, I stole her from you. Do I appear reckless to you, Poe? Because if things were as black and white as you say, surely only a reckless fool would have done as I did.’


‘You’re either part of the solution or you’re part of the problem, Sergeant Poe,’ Spiggens said. ‘What’s it to be?’


‘Definitely part of the problem,’ Flynn said. ‘In fact, he usually makes things worse.’


‘Thanks, boss,’ Poe said. He turned to Locke. ‘I don’t think you’re reckless, Alastor. I just think you see the world as your private chessboard. You spend so much time manipulating your kings and queens, your bishops, knights and rooks, that you forget about the little people. The pawns. They’re an afterthought. There only to justify your actions.’


‘I think that might be enough, Poe,’ Flynn said.


A year ago, she’d have ordered him to stop. Today he reckoned she was silently cheering him on. He wasn’t the only person Locke had screwed over.


Locke held up his hand. ‘It’s fine, DCI Flynn,’ he said. ‘Tell me, Poe; has your golden goose ever told you about the work she’s been doing for me?’


Poe shook his head. Wondered why he was engaging with Locke at all. ‘She won’t tell me anything.’


‘And I won’t betray her confidence now,’ he said. ‘But please be assured that hundreds of lives have been saved. Ordinary lives. Your pawns. So, did I take your prize asset? Yes. Have people died at the hands of those you might have caught? Possibly, probably even. But the big question is – and considering where we are now, it’s not as easy to answer as it once would have been – would I do the same again?’ He held Poe with a look like a beartrap. ‘You bet your bloody life I would.’


He took off his glasses and began polishing them. Poe thought he looked much older than the last time they’d met. He seemed tired. His hair was greyer.


‘But I’m not here to convince you to help,’ he continued. ‘I know you well enough to know you won’t be able to get past what I did. You’re far too recalcitrant to forgive and forget.’


‘He’s an arsehole,’ Flynn confirmed.


‘Whose side are you bloody on?’ Poe said.


‘The same side you used to be on! The public’s side. And in case you haven’t noticed what’s going on out there, it’s chaos. Never mind that dickhead’s the-economy-is-stagnating bigger picture bullshit – real people are suffering.’


‘I’ve noticed,’ Poe said. ‘But I meant what I said: we should have been in at the start. If our shooter was going to make a mistake, it would have been when he was starting. He’s too good at this now.’


‘We give up, is that it?’


‘We don’t do anything, DCI Flynn. There is no we. We had a unit singularly equipped for events like this and now we don’t.’ He jabbed his finger in Locke’s direction. ‘Blame him, not me.’


‘This is getting us nowhere,’ Spiggens said. He reached forward and pressed the intercom. ‘Please, send her in.’


‘Right away, sir.’


‘If we can’t make you see reason, perhaps she can.’


‘Who?’ Poe said.


The door opened and a thin bespectacled woman entered. She was clutching some papers and looked like the physical manifestation of the word ‘bookworm’. She was bright and she was silly and she was brave and loyal and everything that was good. Her name was Tilly Bradshaw and she was Poe’s favourite person in the world.


‘I’m not sure I like everyone comparing me to a goose, Poe,’ she said. ‘They’re particularly dumb birds.’


Poe stared in astonishment. Bradshaw grinned back.


‘Have you missed me?’ she said.









Chapter 8


‘Have you ever seen a goose, Tilly?’ Poe said, smiling wildly. He hadn’t seen Bradshaw for almost two months, and he hadn’t realised how much he’d missed her. ‘And I don’t mean a cartoon one like Donald Duck.’


‘Donald Duck is a duck, Poe,’ Bradshaw said. ‘The clue is in his surname. It’s “Duck”.’


‘You make a good point. But here’s something I bet you didn’t know: Donald Duck speaks like that because he had PTSD.’


‘Gosh, really?’


Poe nodded. ‘It’s why he keeps flying into a rage. He wears a naval uniform and was around during the Second World War. He’ll have almost certainly seen active service.’


‘But you have PTSD and keep flying into a rage, Poe. You don’t speak like Donald Duck.’


Poe said, ‘Quack.’


‘If you’re both finished?’ Spiggens said irritably.


‘Finished?’ Flynn said. ‘They’re only getting started, mate. They can keep this shit up for weeks.’


Poe said, ‘What are you doing here, Tilly?’


‘Alastor Locke made me come,’ Bradshaw replied. ‘I’m supposed to help change your mind. He says you’re as stubborn as a Muirkirk iron—’


‘I don’t know if that’s good or bad,’ Poe said.


‘I don’t either, but he seemed awfully keen for me to be here.’


‘To persuade me to go and work with him?’


‘Yes, Poe.’


‘And do you think I should?’


‘Not if you don’t want to. That last case almost killed you. You’re still seeing Doctor Clara Lang and you have a wonderful life ahead with Estelle Doyle. I think you should let someone else do it this time.’


‘This isn’t what we discussed, Miss Bradshaw,’ Locke said.


Locke may as well have not spoken. Bradshaw was like a mother bear when it came to Poe. Protective didn’t come close to describing how far she’d go when it came to watching his back.


‘But we’d be working together again,’ he said. ‘That’d be fun.’


‘Actually, Miss Bradshaw is needed elsewhere, Poe,’ Locke said. ‘It would only be you and DCI Flynn.’


Bradshaw’s shoulders slumped. She tried to smile but couldn’t manage it.


‘Do you enjoy what you’re doing for Alastor, Tilly?’ Poe said.


‘I hate it, Poe,’ she said. ‘The people I work with are nitwits and the work is unchallenging. And I never know if what Alastor Locke orders me to do is a good thing or not. At least when I worked with you and DCI Flynn, I never doubted that what we were doing was just, even if we did upset a lot of people along the way.’


‘That was mainly Poe to be fair, Tilly,’ Flynn said.


‘It was. But he was always honest about why he wanted me to do certain things. So were you. And then it was my decision if I wanted to do it or not. But Alastor lies all the time.’


‘I’m a spy,’ Locke shrugged. ‘It’s in my job description.’ He removed his glasses and began polishing them again.


‘I work with Tilly or I don’t work at all, Alastor.’


‘I don’t think he’s bluﬃng, mate,’ Flynn said.


‘Alastor,’ Spiggens warned. ‘I don’t want to go over your head, but I will if I have to.’


‘Of course,’ Locke said. He smiled politely at Poe. ‘If you and Miss Bradshaw could review the evidence, the Right Honourable Mr Spiggens and I would be eternally grateful.’









Chapter 9


Mathers took them to the incident room. The Met had assumed command because the first shooting had taken place in London, and because they were the only force with enough horsepower to manage something this big – but sixteen territorial forces were conducting their own investigations. The sniper had shot and killed multiple people but never in the same police area. Which meant that as well as leading the national response, Mathers was also coordinating murder investigations in seventeen different force areas. They needed everyone else’s intelligence, and they needed to feed in their own. Each force had sent liaison oﬃcers and they all required space to work. They needed back-oﬃce staff and technical support. For every badged oﬃcer there were four or five without badges helping them do their job. A bog-standard incident room wasn’t going to cut it this time. Mathers needed somewhere bigger.


She had taken the pragmatic choice and hired Blencathra House, a conference centre near the British Library. It was equidistant between King’s Cross and Euston – the two main train stations northern cops would use. She’d hired the whole centre and brought in her own staff to protect it. Armed cops patrolled the grounds and checked the ID of everyone entering and exiting the building.


After they’d got through security, Flynn and Bradshaw were waylaid by someone they’d once worked with. Poe didn’t know them, so he followed Mathers. He wasn’t in the mood to meet new people.


‘How’s this working out?’ Poe asked.


‘It’s the private sector so it’s better than anything we have,’ Mathers said. ‘Their tech is superb. The broadband is shit hot. Everything is state-of-the-art. If it weren’t, businesses wouldn’t use it.’


‘How many people are in here?’


‘At any one time, at least three hundred. When there’s a big briefing or a new murder it can double as cops from outside the area come in.’


‘Anything from the hotline?’


‘Nothing sensible. Lots of grievances being settled.’


Poe grunted his annoyance. Any time a hotline was set up, the public took the opportunity to ratchet up decade-long feuds. The original argument might have stemmed from their neighbour’s dog shitting on their lawn, but by the time they called the hotline it was because Bob from next door was ‘noncey as fuck’ or he’d converted his garage into an IRA bomb factory.


‘There hasn’t been a single breakthrough?’ Poe said. ‘Maybe something you didn’t want to tell the blabbermouth politician about?’


OEBPS/xhtml/nav.xhtml




Contents





		Title



		Copyright



		Table of Contents



		Author’s note



		Chapter 1



		The First Light



		Chapter 2



		Chapter 3



		Chapter 4



		Chapter 5



		Chapter 6



		Chapter 7



		Chapter 8



		Chapter 9



		Chapter 10



		Chapter 11



		Chapter 12



		Chapter 13



		Chapter 14



		Chapter 15



		Chapter 16



		Chapter 17



		Chapter 18



		Chapter 19



		Chapter 20



		Chapter 21



		Chapter 22



		Chapter 23



		Chapter 24



		Chapter 25



		Chapter 26



		Chapter 27



		Chapter 28



		Chapter 29



		Chapter 30



		Chapter 31



		Chapter 32



		Chapter 33



		Chapter 34



		Chapter 35



		Chapter 36



		Chapter 37



		Chapter 38



		Chapter 39



		Chapter 40



		Chapter 41



		Chapter 42



		Chapter 43



		Chapter 44



		Chapter 45



		Chapter 46



		Chapter 47



		Chapter 48



		Chapter 49



		Chapter 50



		Chapter 51



		Chapter 52



		Chapter 53



		Chapter 54



		Chapter 55



		Chapter 56



		Chapter 57



		Chapter 58



		Chapter 59



		Chapter 60



		Chapter 61



		Chapter 62



		Chapter 63



		Chapter 64



		Chapter 65



		Chapter 66



		Chapter 67



		Chapter 68



		Chapter 69



		Chapter 70









		The Second Light



		Chapter 71



		Chapter 72



		Chapter 73



		Chapter 74



		Chapter 75



		Chapter 76



		Chapter 77



		Chapter 78



		Chapter 79



		Chapter 80



		Chapter 81



		Chapter 82



		Chapter 83



		Chapter 84



		Chapter 85



		Chapter 86



		Chapter 87



		Chapter 88



		Chapter 89









		The Third Light



		Chapter 90



		Chapter 91



		Chapter 92



		Chapter 93



		Chapter 94



		Chapter 95



		Chapter 96



		Chapter 97



		Chapter 98



		Chapter 99



		Chapter 100



		Chapter 101



		Chapter 102



		Chapter 103



		Chapter 104



		Chapter 105



		Chapter 106









		Epilogue



		Epilogue 2



		Acknowledgements













Guide





		Cover



		Contents



		Start











OEBPS/images/pub.png
Ham)
fe o





OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
o THE NEW
" [ POEAND
'| BRADSHAW
THRILLER






